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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND QRIGINAL (iF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Yellow Sulphur Springs resort complex occupies a sloping, sheltered site in the
intersection of three wooded hollows among several hills in Montgomery County.

The complex is the product of several building campaigns over the course of the
nineteenth century, and although several of the structures have been removed the
surviving buildings comprise ome of the oldest and most extensive complexes of
early resort buildings remaining in Virginia.

The main building, the oldest surviving structure in the group, is a two-story, eight-
bay frame hotel building set upon a full basement. Common-bond chimneys stand at
either end, and a two-story portico with square Roman Doric piers stretches the

length of the weatherboarded structure., Presently its plan consists of four large
rooms on the first floor and a series of smaller guest rooms connected by a passage
along the front of the building on the second. Reputedly an enlargement of a ca.

1810 structure (of which no visual evidence remains), the present form of the hotel
including the chimneys and porches,is a result of work undertaken in the 1840s.

Behind the hotel to the north is the proprietor's cottage. This is a story-and-a-
half, L-shaped frame structure built in the 1870s. Set on a stone basement and
altered with a shed addition, its bracketed cornice and the pinnacle on its gable
are its only exterior decoration,

Aligned with the proprietor's house, but in front of the main hotel, is an octagonal
gazebo. Built in the late nineteenth century, it has octagonal columns and a
bracketed cornice.

On the sides of thé three Hil¥s which corwerge at Yellow Sulphur Springs are three
rows of cottages formerly denominated the Petexrsbuxg, Memphis, and Spring Hill rows.
The western of these rows is the most complete. It consists, like the others, of

a series of closely set one-story, six-unit frame buildings with full-length front
porches and plain Greek Revival details. The northeastern and southeastern rows

each lack two of their four buildings which were destroyed, for fire insurance reasons.
Behind- the western building in the southeastern row survives a small one-story, frame,
double servants' cottage built to accosmodate the slaves of the main rows' occupants.

At the east end of the complex is a plain, one-story, frame carriage house built

in the nineteenth century and converted to a garage in the present century. Between
it and the other buildings stood the enormous late nineteenth-century hotel, a two-
and-one~half story turreted, Shingle Style building which was destroyed in the 1940s.

At the northern end of the complex, up another hollow and next to the site of a
man-made lake stands the nineteenth-century bowling alley. This long, low, gable-
roofed frame building is missing, much of its cladding, but the two orlglnal alleys,
ball-retuxn track, and spectators' seating survive in remarkably good condition.

L}

Justification of Acreage:

The approximately 60 acres being nominated encompass all the buildings and the
springs which are associated with the former spa.
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Yellow Sulphur Springs, situated in the intersection of three’holloWS or ravines

in the rolling hills of Montgomery County between Blacksburg and Christiansburg, is

a remarkable survivor of the spas for which western Virginia was renowned in the
nineteenth century. Despite the loss of its late nineteenth-century hotel building
and several smaller cottages, the surviving original hotel, cottage rows, gazebo,
proprietor's house, and rare nineteenth-century bowling alley make this famous resor t
one of the earliest and most complete of such complexes in Virginia. As a whole,

it presents an intriguing picture of the upper middle-class leisure~time and thera-
peutic pursuits of the mid-Victorian era.

TP

Yellow Sulphur Springs became known to seekers after health and refreshment early in
the nineteenth century; accounts of the 1870s and 1880s asserted that by that time
the springs had been in use for 60 or 70 years. 1In fact, a letter to the editor
appearing in the November 23, 1810 Richmond Enquirer from'Viator" (possibly a pseu-
donym of Episcopal Bishop James Madison) described "'Tayloxr's Spring', or 'The Yellow
Spring'" in great detail, '"The climate," wrote the author, "is exceeded by no other
in point of salubrity; and the accommodations, in every respect, are comfortable

and agreeable...” The water was 'between 54 and 55 F" and was directed into wooden
channels for its users' convenience. Experiments had been made, upon the water;.
drinkers discovered that it checked the pulse and acted as a diurectic, purgative,
and whetter of the appetite. Furthermore, Viator believed that it had a therapeutic
effect upon sores, ulcers, cutaneous disorders, "obstruction of the Viscera," and
"pillious complainis."”

At the time of Viator's writing Yellow Sulphur Springs was the property of Charles
Tayloxr. The land tax books indicate that there were few improvements on the land

at the time, but the comfortable accommodations noted by the letter writer may have
included the original section of the old hotel building now standing on the property.
In 1841 Taylor tramsferred the "Taylor's Springs Tract' to Armistead W. Forrest who
held the property for twelve years. The land tax books support the probability that
tho cottage yows were erected during the Forrest tenure. His successors, Thomas H.
Fowlkes, Charles B. Gardiner, and James P. Ednunds, made considerable improvements

to the property as well.

Yellow Sulphur Springs, as it was called by then, enjoyed a boom in popularity spurred
by the construction of the railroad. Visitors to the Springs during this period
included Edmund Ruffin, Henry A. Wise, Jr., Jubal Early and P. T. Beauregard,
Individuals were allowed to build private cabins-~Early's stood until 1943--and, if
drawings by Lewis Miller and Edward Beyer published in 1856 and 1857 respectively

(5ee Continuation Sheet #2)
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION ‘The approximately 6U acres comprising the Yellow Sulphur
Springs property are bounded by a line beginning at a point (A) on the W side of State
Route 643, a little over .2 mile § of the intersection of state routes 642 and 643;
thence running approximately 2300 feet S following W side of State Route 643; then ex-
tending approximately 900 feet NW in a straight line following tree line; then extend-
ing 400 feet WNW in a straight line following tree line; then running approximately
1700 feet generally NW following tree line for first 900 feet; then running approxi-
mately 600 feet NE in a straight line following tree line (See continuation sheet # 1)
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10. GFEOGRAPHICAL DATA
Verbal Boundary Description

and cutting across tree-covered area last 300 feet; then running approximately
600 feet E in a straight line following tree line; then extending approximately
500 feet S in a straight line following tree line; then running approximately
500 feet E in a straight line following tree line to intersection with W side of
State Route 643 and point of origin,
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8. SIGNIFICARCE

are accurate, the original main building was enlarged during that time to accommodate
the increased clientele.

Yellow Sulphur Springs was closed during the War Between the States but was reopened
and back in operation by 1869, 1In 1871 it was purchased by L. J. and L. Wade for
$25,000. The new owners added the gallerxries to the cottage rows, put in new

baths, built a ney mansarded hotel, and refitted the still-surviving bowling alley.

A year later they constructed a new spring house. During this prosperxous period

the Virginia Agricultural and Mechanical Gollege, now known as the Virginia Polytech-
nic Institute, was organized by trustees meeting at the Springs.

A disastrous fire destroyed the new hotel in 1883, and Yellow Sulphur Springs under=-
went a period of decline which ended with the purchase of the property in 1886 by
Ridgeway Holt., Holt built the large Shingle~Style hotel which stood until the
1940s, and the Springs again enjoyed an era of popularity which lasted until 1923,
Promotional literature on Montgomery County which was published for the Jamestown
Exposition of 1907 acclaimed the spa's "every facility for comfort or pleasure,"

its "excellent ballroom," and its "well ventilated bowling alley."

Though Yellow Sulphur Springs has suffered years of neglect and the loss of several
buildings, its present owner is interested in its preservation and revitalization,
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.1.018 Hotel=- a frame structure,
originally bullt in 1810,
The oldest hotel in
Montgomery County,
it was aspanded in 1685,
It displays an effective
use of tha vernacular
Greek Revival colonrade.
Extremely andangered
by blasting operations
nearty, its foundations
have deteriorated rap—
idly during recent yedrs,

2, Cottags Rows—- Petersburg, Mam=-
phis, and Spring Hill
rows, {7 bulldings).
Some of the most ste—
gant Springs cottages
in Virglnta. Simple,
handsome detafling is
conalafant throughout.
They date from the
1860's.

3., Spring house ard proprietor's

cottage= dating from the prosper—
ous 1870's, tha Italiarn—
ate details are well pra=
. served.

4, "Tenpin Alley"—certainly one of
the oldest bowling alleys
in the state.

5.Carrtage house-—this {s one of the
original dependancies,

8, Servants! cottage

7.Bam (former cannery)

9. Siteof ¢. 1868 hotel.
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USGS 7.5' quadrangle (Scale: 1:24000)
Blacksburg, Va. 1965 (PR 1970)

' YELLOW SULPHUR SPRINGS, MONTGOMIRY CO., VA.
. UTH References:
A - 17/553580/4114860 B = 17/553710/4114360
G = 17/553600/4114200 D - 17/553250/4114490
E - 17/553080/4114910 F = 17/553330/4115080
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